How Sexual Reproduction Affects the Population Biology of *Phytophthora infestans*

Lina Sjöholm

Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences Department of Forest Mycology and Plant Pathology Uppsala

Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala 2012 Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae 2012:93

Cover illustration: Alvar Grönberg

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN 978-91-576-7740-2 © 2012 Lina Sjöholm, Uppsala Print: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 2012

How Sexual Reproduction Affects the Population Biology of *Phytophthora infestans*

Abstract

Phytophthora infestans is a rapidly evolving and highly adaptable pathogen. It is the cause of late blight, one of the most devastating diseases in potato production. Depending on whether both mating types are present or not, P. infestans can undergo both asexual and sexual reproduction. In most parts of the world the asexual part of the life cycle is the dominant reproduction system resulting in dominant clonal lineages. However, earlier reports indicate that sexual recombination of the late blight pathogen occurs in the Nordic countries. This thesis includes studies on how this will affect the population biology of *P. infestans*. The results show that the genotypic variation of *P.* infestans in the Nordic countries is high. The highest variation was observed within fields, and no dominating clonal lineages were found. In a field trial planted with artificially inoculated seed, the genotypes originating from the infected tubers had a minor impact on the population biology of P. infestans during the season. Immigrating genotypes, which probably originated from potato crops infected by oospores, proved to be more important for the epidemiology of the disease. The presence of the alternative host (hairy nightshade) was shown to result in an increased oospore production and a higher aggressiveness of late blight on potato. From the results it can be concluded that oospores play a major role in the population biology of the late blight pathogen in the Nordic countries. Furthermore, in a study of the variation in effector genes of P. infestans, indication of selection pressure towards losing intact Avr4 genes was found. In all studied isolates this frame shift mutation was observed which means that all isolates would be able to infect plants with the R4 resistance gene.

The population biology of the late blight pathogen in the Nordic countries is complex and differs from that in many other parts of the world. The difficulties to control this disease are numerous and the nature of the Nordic population of *P*. *infestans* threatens to further add to this problem.

Keywords: late blight, hairy nightshade, effectors, SSR, oospores

Author's address: Lina Sjöholm, SLU, Department of Forest Mycology and Plant Pathology, P.O. Box 7026, 75007 Uppsala, Sweden *E-mail:* Lina.Sjoholm@slu.se

Dedication

Till Niclas

Contents

List of Publications 7		
1	Introduction	9
2	History and background to the late blight pathogen	11
2.1	History of the pathogen	11
	2.1.1 Migrations	12
2.2	The life cycle	13
	2.2.1 The asexual part of the life cycle	13
	2.2.2 The sexual part of the life cycle	14
2.3	The hosts	15
	2.3.1 Potato	15
	2.3.2 Hairy nightshade	16
2.4	Population structure of Phytophthora infestans in the world	18
2.5	Control methods	19
	2.5.1 The use of fungicides	19
	2.5.2 Breeding for resistance	19
2.6	The genome of <i>P. infestans</i> and its effectors	20
3	Objectives	23
4	Methods for studying population biology of plant pathogens	25
4.1	Field work	26
4.2	Characterising phenotypes	26
4.3	Characterising genotypes	27
4.4	Sequencing	29
4.5	Analysing population genetic data	29
5	How sexual reproduction affects the population biology of	
	Phytophthora infestans	31
5.1	Population structure and migration patterns of P. infestans in the Nord	dic
	countries (paper I)	31
5.2	Immigration and persistence of <i>P. infestans</i> in a single field (paper II)	34
5.3	Population differentiation of P. infestans on two different hosts (paper	III)37
5.4	Variation in effectors (paper IV)	39
6	Conclusions	41

7 Future perspectives	43
References	45
Acknowledgements	53

List of Publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I L. Sjöholm, B. Andersson, N. Högberg, A-K. Widmark & J. Yuen (2012). Genotypic diversity and migration patterns of *Phytophthora infestans*. (submitted)
- II L. Sjöholm, J. Yuen & B. Andersson. Immigration and persistence of *Phytophthora infestans* in a single field. (manuscript)
- III L. Grönberg, B. Andersson & J. Yuen (2012). Can weed hosts increase the aggressiveness of *Phytophthora infestans* on potato? *Phytopathology* 102(4), 429-433.
- IV L. Sjöholm, U. Blandón-Díaz, N. Högberg. Effector variation in a clonal vs. sexual population of *Phytophthora infestans*. (manuscript)

7

Paper III is reproduced with the permission of the publisher.

The contribution of Lina Sjöholm to the papers included in this thesis was as follows:

- I Planned the study together with co-authors. Collected samples and carried out the laboratory work. Analysed the data and wrote the manuscript with the help from co-authors
- II Planned the study together with co-authors. Collected samples and carried out the laboratory work. Analysed the data. Wrote the manuscript assisted by co-authors.
- III Planned the study, collected samples, carried out the laboratory work and analysed data in cooperation with co-authors. Wrote a major part of the manuscript assisted by co-authors.
- IV Planned the study together with co-authors. Carried out the laboratory work. Analysed the data with the help of co-authors. Wrote a major part of the manuscript assisted by co-authors.

1 Introduction

Agriculture today feeds 6,000 million people. Plant production and yields have increased tremendously during the last 40 years due to irrigation, progress in plant breeding, and inputs such as fertilizers and pesticides. Potato production has increased in many developing countries during the last years but decreased during the same period in the industrialised world. In total, however, it is becoming more important as a staple crop. Globally, potato is the third main food crop after wheat and rice (Nations). In Europe potato is the second most important arable crop. It is cultivated in scales ranging from just a few square meters in back-yard gardens to large scale production on hundreds of hectares. However, even after decades of improvements in potato production in the form of resistance breeding efforts and fungicide development, there are still major constraints to overcome. For example, late blight on potato remains to be one of the most devastating plant diseases. The annual cost of this disease in control efforts and yield loss is estimated to M \in 4800 globally (Haverkort *et al.*, 2008).

It is a challenge to study this organism since it is rapidly evolving, has a complex genome and varying population structures in different parts of the world. This thesis contributes to the understanding of the population biology of the late blight pathogen in a sexually reproducing system. It will cover areas such as how the population structure in the Nordic countries differs from other areas, how an alternative host affects the aggressiveness of *P. infestans*, population development during the season and variation in pathogenicity genes (effectors).

2 History and background to the late blight pathogen

"In the wake of the famine agronomists and plant pathologists faced the task of coming to understand the disease and devising ways to combat it. That effort goes on today. It has not, in the main, been a heroic tale of scientific triumph; on the contrary, late blight has allegedly broken the hearts of more agricultural scientists than any other single crop disease" (Turner, 2005).

2.1 History of the pathogen

Late blight caused by *Phytophthora infestans* has caused one of history's most well-known plant disease epidemics, leading to the Irish potato famine in the 1840's and mass emigration and death of millions of people in Ireland. The first occurrence of the disease was reported from the east coast of the U.S around 1843. In 1845, the first outbreaks in Europe were discovered in Belgium. Later the same year it spread to Holland, Germany, England and Ireland (Bourke, 1991). The Irish population was dependent on potato as a main food source and therefore the blight in Ireland caused a famine resulting in a demographic disaster with a population decline of twenty-one percent (Large, 1946, Turner, 2005), one from which Ireland still has not recovered.

There were widespread speculations if the weather was the cause behind the blight epidemic. A Belgian mycologist named Marie-Anne Libert was the first to describe the cause of the blight as a fungus and proposed the name *Botrytis vastatrix* (Zadoks, 2008). About the same time another scientist, Jean Francis Camille Montagne, described the fungus and it was agreed to name it *Botrytis infestans*. At that time, however, it was a general belief that spores, germs and bacteria were not a cause but a consequence of diseases. 'The potato murrain' remained a mystery, and it was only when Anton de Bary described the life cycle of the potato blight pathogen in 1861 it was accepted and established that

a fungus was responsible for the disease. It was also de Bary who named the pathogen *Phytophthora infestans*, which means 'infectious plant destroyer' (Large, 1946).

Historically, there has been a longstanding controversy if potato late blight has its origin in Mexico or in the Andes (Andrivon, 1996). Due to the high genotypic and phenotypic variation and the presence of both mating types of *P. infestans*, central Mexico has been proposed as the centre of origin for the late blight pathogen. However, recently another theory has been suggested with the Andes as the centre of origin based on the mitochondrial and nuclear loci in *P. infestans* and its close relative *P. andina* (Gómez-Alpizar *et al.*, 2007).

2.1.1 Migrations

The first known migration of late blight took place from the U.S to Europe, which caused the Irish famine in the 1840's. Once the pathogen was introduced in Europe it was distributed by international seed trade to the rest of the world (Fry *et al.*, 1993). Between the 1840's and 1970's there is no clear evidence of any migrations of *P. infestans* taking place. The populations of *P. infestans* in the world (except Mexico) before 1970 consisted of only the A1 mating type and were dominated by a single clonal lineage, US-1 (Goodwin *et al.*, 1994). The second global migration of *P. infestans* can be divided in two parts and this is also the event that changed the population structure of this pathogen since this migration carried both mating types.

The first part of this second migration occurred in 1976 via a shipment of potato tubers from Mexico to Europe (Niederhauser, 1991). This shipment was meant to cover a shortage of potatoes in Europe. Import of potato tubers from Mexico was normally not allowed because of the fear of the A2 mating type (Fry *et al.*, 2008). However, this shipment probably carried both the A2 mating type and also other novel alleles. This relocation was not discovered in Europe until 1984 when the A2 mating type was found in Switzerland (Hohl & Iselin, 1984). The "new" population displaced the old one (Spielman *et al.*, 1991, Drenth *et al.*, 1994, Fry & Goodwin, 1997) and was spread to the rest of Europe and other parts of the world.

The second migration event of *P. infestans* brought new genotypes of *P. infestans* from Mexico to the U.S and Canada in the 1980's (Fry *et al.*, 1993). It has been confirmed that the genotypes found in the U.S correspond to genotypes found in northwest Mexico. Both mating types are present in the U.S and Canada but the population consists of only a few dominating genotypes (Fry & Goodwin, 1997).

2.2 The life cycle

The late blight pathogen *P. infestans* belongs to the group oomycetes and the kingdom of Straminopila. The cell walls of oomycetes mainly consist of cellulose in contrast to true fungi whose cell walls contain chitin. Taxonomically, *P. infestans* is more closely related to brown algae than to true fungi even if late blight often is classified as a fungal disease (Erwin & Ribeiro, 1996). The pathogen can attack all parts of the potato plant; foliage, stem and tubers, but not roots (Fehrmann & Dimond, 1967), as illustrated in figure 2. The life cycle of the pathogen (figure 1) can be divided into an asexual part, and if both mating types are present, a sexual part. The oomycetes are diploid for the major part of their life cycle.



Figure 1. The life cycle of Phytophthora infestans. Illustration made by Alvar Grönberg.

2.2.1 The asexual part of the life cycle

If one mating type is present, only the asexual life cycle is possible. Shoots emerge with living mycelium of *P. infestans* from the infected tubers. From the mycelium sporangiophores emerge through stomata of stems and leaves, and produce sporangia. The sporangia are often released in the morning when the

temperature is rising and the air humidity is decreasing. The spores are dispersed by wind or rain to a nearby plant or a neighbouring canopy. The dispersal of airborne sporangia between fields and regions are limited by the effects of solar radiation and air humidity on the survival of these propagules. As a result, they can mostly only be dispersed over shorter distances (Mizubuti *et al.*, 2000). The sporangia can germinate directly or release three to eight zoospores. When in contact with leaf or stem the sporangia or zoospores form germ tubes and appressoria and penetrate the host. The mycelium grows intercellularly and haustoria are formed inside the cells. The cells in the potato plant die as the mycelium continues to colonise the host plant. New sporangiophores emerge through stomata and the sporangia produced can spread and give rise to new sporulating lesions after a few days. The zoospores have an optimum germination temperature of 10-15 °C whereas the majority of sporangia germinate directly in temperatures around 20-25 °C (Fry, 2008).

The asexual part of the *P. infestans* life cycle enables rapid dispersal and a short generation time through the huge amount of sporangia released (Fry, 2008). With a latency period as short as three days (Flier & Turkensteen, 1999), all of the above ground part of the plant can be destroyed within a week. If the infected crop is left untreated, there is a risk of sporangia or zoospores reaching and infecting the tubers. In this way, the entire harvest can be destroyed. Furthermore, the infected tubers can serve as an inoculum source the following season.



Figure 2. Typical symptoms of late blight on leaves, stem and tubers. Photo: L. Sjöholm

2.2.2 The sexual part of the life cycle

Phytophthora infestans has two mating types designated A1 and A2. If both mating types co-exist the pathogen can undergo sexual reproduction. When the two mating types come in contact (infect the same leaflet), fertilization can



take place between the oogonium (female organ) and the antheridium (male organ) resulting in the formation of thick-walled and robust oospores. The oospores are formed within the plant tissue and when the infected plant debris fall to the ground, the oospores become incorporated into the soil where they can survive for years (Pittis & Shattock, 1994, Drenth *et al.*, 1995). When the oospores germinate a germ tube is formed which produces a sporangium, which will either produce infectious zoospores or infect the host directly analogous to asexual infection. The factors that govern the germination of oospores in the soil are still mostly unknown. The effect of oospores on the epidemiology of late blight is also to a large extent unexplored (Andrivon, 1995, Widmark *et al.*, 2011).

2.3 The hosts

The host range of *P. infestans* is mainly restricted to the family *Solanaceae*, of which potato (*Solanum tuberosum*) and tomato (*S. lycopersicum*) are the most important agricultural crops (Erwin & Ribeiro, 1996). In many places, potato and tomato are grown all year around. In colder climates, like, in Sweden, where only one growing season per year is possible, all commercial tomato cultivation is conducted in green houses which reduces the risks of late blight infections. There are a few wild *Solanum* spp. that are reported as hosts for *P. infestans* in Sweden. The most widespread are *S. nigrum* (black nightshade, a common weed in potato crops), *S. dulcamara* (bittersweet) and *S. physalifolium* (hairy nightshade). However, attacks by *P. infestans* on *S. dulcamara* and *S. nigrum* are very rare and must be considered to have no or very limited effect on late blight epidemics (Cooke *et al.*, 2002, Flier *et al.*, 2003). In contrast, another Solanum species, *S. physalifolium* has been found to be highly susceptible to *P. infestans* (Grönberg *et al.*, 2012).

2.3.1 Potato

The cultivation of potato has a long history. Potato originates from South and Central America. The Europeans first discovered the potato in 1537 when the Spanish conquistadors invaded the villages in the Andes (Robertson, 1991). The potato was probably brought to Sweden by the natural scientist Olof Rudbeck around 1655. The first years it was only used as an ornamental plant in different botanical gardens. During the 18th century, Jonas Alströmer started to cultivate potato on his farm in Alingsås. Despite his many efforts to establish the potato as a staple crop, the Swedish farmers were not too impressed. However, from the second half of the 18th century the potato increased in popularity. This was aided by soldiers returning from the

European continent bringing the habit of eating potato. Another contributing factor to the increased acceptance was the discovery of the possibility of producing alcohol from potato (Osvald, 1965).

Potato is not a major crop in Sweden today. Including both table and starch potato the total area of cultivated potato in Sweden in 2011 was 27 100 ha. This can be compared to the total area of cultivated land in Sweden which is 2.6 million ha. The average yield per hectare in Sweden is 30 tonnes. France and Belgium have an average yield of around 43 tonnes per hectare whereas Poland and Romania have yields of approximately 16 tonnes per hectare. In an international perspective the Swedish potato cultivation is efficient. The farmers have good knowledge, the potato is produced on suitable soils and most commonly with access to an adequate supply of water. However, more information to the customers linked to continuous product development is needed to maintain potato consumption (Rölin *et al.*, 2012).

2.3.2 Hairy nightshade

Hairy nightshade (*Solanum physalifolium* Rusby var. *nitidibaccatum* (Bitter) Edmonds (1986)) (in this thesis, referred to as *S. physalifolium* or hairy nightshade) is a summer annual plant native to South America, but has been widely introduced elsewhere in the world. Problems with hairy nightshade as a weed occur mostly in row crops with low competitive ability such as potato, sugar beet, and carrot (Edmonds, 1986). In South America it is a weed which is present all year around. However, it is important to be aware of the taxonomical uncertainty within the Solanaceae family. It is common with naturally occurring hybrids between different species of Solanum. For example, some studies report *Solanum sarrachoides* as a host for *P. infestans* (Deahl *et al.*, 2005). As hairy nightshade is used as the trivial name for both *S. physalifolium* and *S. sarrachoides* the confusion is a fact. Edmonds (1986) also mentions that *S. physalifolium* is often misidentified as *S. sarrachoides*.





Figure 3. Hairy nightshade (*Solanum physalifolium*) to the left, with late blight symptoms. Black nightshade (*Solanum nigrum*) to the right. Both found in a potato field. Photo: L. Sjöholm

In Sweden, S. physalifolium is a weed problem in row cultivated crops. The cultivation of row crops is concentrated to the southern parts of Sweden. In this kind of cultivation irrigation is a common practice which benefits the hairy nightshade with its shallow root system. Late planting also favour nightshades that require a relatively high germination temperature. Black nightshade (S. nigrum) shares the same habitat as hairy nightshade, whereas bittersweet (S. dulcamara) grows in wetter conditions. However, no infections by P. infestans on black nightshade or bittersweet have been reported from Sweden. It has been reported that P. infestans can infect S. physalifolium and that oospore production takes place in the host. This has been seen both under laboratory and field conditions (Andersson et al., 2003) and attacks are observed every year under field conditions in Sweden. As a result, this alternative host plant might promote the spread of P. infestans during the growing season as well as between seasons. So far, S. physalifolium has mainly been restricted to the southernmost parts of Sweden but, with the predicted increases in temperature due to climate change, it has a potential to be established as a weed problem further north (Eckersten et al., 2008). Interestingly enough, there are no reports of P. infestans infections on S. physalifolium under field conditions outside Sweden, which may be due to the availability of more effective herbicides in these regions or difficulties in host plant identification.

2.4 Population structure of *Phytophthora infestans* in the world

The coexistence of both mating types allows *P. infestans* to reproduce sexually. This will increase the genotypic diversity and affect the population structure (Shaw, 1991). In central Mexico, which is considered as the centre of origin for late blight, both mating types coexist and the genotypic diversity of *P. infestans* is high (Grünwald & Flier, 2005). One might suspect that the late blight population in the U.S would also be highly diverse due to the migration pattern, from Mexico to the U.S, and presence of both mating types. However, the populations of *P. infestans* in the U.S appear to be asexual and highly clonal (Hu *et al.*, 2012). Also in Central America the populations of the late blight pathogen are clonal (Blandón-Díaz *et al.*, 2012). The number of clonal lineages and common genotypes are limited enough to make it possible to give them individual names, i.e, US-8 and NI-1.

During recent years there have been many attempts to characterise the population structure of *P. infestans* in the Asian countries. The population in Siberia belongs to a clonal lineage (Elansky *et al.*, 2001) and this lineage can also be found in China and Japan (Akino *et al.*, 2004). In a recent study from China, all isolates sampled belonged to the same unique SSR genotype (Guo *et al.*, 2009).

In northern Africa, both mating types of *P. infestans* have been reported (Baka, 1997, Shaat, 2002) and there is a potential for sexual reproduction in Morocco since the mating types have been found in the same field (Hammi *et al.*, 2001). This is in contrast to countries further south; Rwanda, Uganda, Kenya, Tanzania, Burundi and Ethiopia, which historically have had only the A1 mating type present, which was the clonal lineage US-1. More recent collections have shown substantial variation in Ethiopia (Daniel Shimelash, personal communication) and the presence of new genotypes on potato in Uganda and Kenya (Annie Njoroge, personal communication). In South Africa, the US-1 clonal lineage is predominant (McLeod *et al.*, 2001, Pule *et al.*, 2008).

An infamous clonal lineage is the so called "blue_13" or "13_A2", which has been dominant in the U.K population of *P. infestans*. During the mid-1990s, A1 was the most common mating type. In 2005/2006 the population switched to a dominance of the A2 mating type, and the isolates sampled were mainly of the specific clonal lineage "blue_13". This clonal lineage has been shown to persist between seasons, dominate the pathogen population throughout the epidemic, and has spread to several other European countries (Lees *et al.*, 2008, Montarry *et al.*, 2010). In a report from 2011 (Gisi *et al.*, 2011) it is stated that the population structure of *P. infestans* in Europe today is

largely clonal with a few dominating genotypes. It is further assumed that sexual reproduction is rare.

However, in the Nordic countries the late blight pathogen has a different population structure compared to in most other parts of the world. Several reports indicate that sexual reproduction and production of oospores occurs and that the oospores can survive for several years in the soil and cause early infections (Andersson *et al.*, 1998, Brurberg *et al.*, 1999, Lehtinen & Hannukkala, 2004, Widmark *et al.*, 2007, Brurberg *et al.*, 2011).

In conclusion, it seems that the population of the late blight pathogen in the Nordic countries is rather unique in the world with a level of genotypic variation shared only with the centre of origin for this pathogen.

2.5 Control methods

There have been made and still are many attempts to control the late blight disease. Many breeders have been occupied with trying to obtain the perfect cross, in order to breed the perfect resistant potato, but with this fast evolving pathogen it has proven difficult to control it without the use of fungicides.

2.5.1 The use of fungicides

Preventive application of fungicides is a main approach to control potato late blight (Fry & Doster, 1991). In Sweden, approximately one third of the fungicides used in agriculture are applied against this disease. Seen in relation to the small proportion of arable land used for potato production (~1%) this reflects the scale of the problems with late blight. Late blight fungicides are normally applied according to a routine based schedule, but efforts to achieve a more need-based control of late blight by using forecasting systems have been made. However, these systems are often met with scepticism by the growers due to the aggressive behaviour of the disease in the field.

Even though spraying with fungicides is still the main control strategy against late blight, a more desirable way is to use resistant potato cultivars. Resistant cultivars will delay the onset of the disease and/or reduce the rate of disease development, resulting in a reduced need for fungicide applications.

2.5.2 Breeding for resistance

The breeding of disease resistance in potato has a long history, and one of the most important diseases to breed against is late blight caused by *P. infestans*. The breeders usually divide the resistance of *P. infestans* into general resistance (also known as field or horizontal resistance) and race-specific resistance (vertical resistance). Most breeding efforts have been made to

develop cultivars with race-specific resistance against *P. infestans*. Breeding for race-specific resistance started in the beginning of the 20th century with crossing potato (*S. tuberosum*) with a wild Solanum species, *S. demissum*. Eleven different resistance genes from *S. demissum* were recognised, and a system of so called R-genes was set up by Black (1953). For example, if a cultivar possesses the resistance gene R4, race 4 of *P. infestans* can infect the plant. This is a gene-for gene relationship (Van der Plank, 1968) where the avirulence gene product is recognised by a dominant R-gene in the host, which triggers the hyper-sensitive response (HR) (Kamoun *et al.*, 1999). Today, *P. infestans* has managed to overcome all of the resistance genes that have been introduced by breeders (Fry, 2008).

Compared to race-specific resistance, general resistance is assumed to be more stable since the pathogen has to change in several loci to be able to infect the host (Umaerus *et al.*, 1983). The plant is not totally immune and the pathogen is exposed to less selection pressure. However, breeding for general resistance is a method which has been proven to be challenging since the basic chemical and physical factors leading to this type of resistance are unknown.

New breeding efforts have again focused on wild Solanum species and new resistance genes found in *Solanum bulbocastanum*. The R genes found ($R_{pi-blb1}$, $R_{pi-blb2}$, $R_{pi-blb3}$) have shown to confer resistance against all of the genotypes tested. It is assumed that these R genes will be more durable since they seem to be effective against the population of *P. infestans* from central Mexico (Song *et al.*, 2003, van der Vossen *et al.*, 2003). However, there are some strains today that have overcome this resistance, but these strains have not yet appeared in field tests so optimism and hope about these R genes are still retained (Fry, 2008).

2.6 The genome of *P. infestans* and its effectors

The genome of *Phytophthora infestans* was recently sequenced (Haas *et al.*, 2009). Compared to other related *Phytophthora* pathogens such as, *P. sojaea* and *P. ramorum*, *P. infestans* has by far the largest genome (240 Mb compared to 65-95 Mb for the other *Phytophthora* species). The big difference in genome sizes is probably due to the large amount of repetitive DNA and transposons in *P. infestans*. The genome also consists of an extensive expansion of specific families of secreted disease pathogenicity effector proteins which are coded in the mobile element of the genome. The genome of *P. infestans* codes for a large number of effector proteins (>700) (Haas *et al.*, 2009).

Effectors are proteins that can be seen as the pathogens key weapon to defeat the defence mechanisms of the host (Tyler, 2008). However, effector

proteins can both facilitate the infection (virulence factors or toxins) of a host and/or trigger defence responses (avirulence factors). The pathogen effector which is a product of an avirulence (Avr) gene interacts with the corresponding R protein in the plant. If either the Avr gene or the R is absent or nonfunctional the interaction is compatible and the host susceptible (Vleeshouwers *et al.*, 2011). If the plant is resistant a HR response occurs. Some of the effectors act in the apoplast while others act in the host cell. The effector proteins can target different sites in infected host plant tissue (Kamoun, 2006).

These protein-effector interactions are studied to better understand the underlying mechanism of late blight resistance on a molecular basis. All oomycete avirulence genes discovered today have an RXLR-motif (RXLR=arginine, any amino-acid, leucine, arginine) (Poppel *et al.*, 2008). The *P. infestans* effectors Avr3a, Avr4 and Avr-blb1 are the most studied effectors and belong to the RXLR group (Armstrong *et al.*, 2005, Poppel *et al.*, 2008, Vleeshouwers *et al.*, 2008). The RXLR motif defines a domain that enables translocation of the effector proteins into the host cell (Whisson *et al.*, 2007). The discovery of the effector proteins is a major breakthrough in the understanding of the *P. infestans - S. solanum* interaction, but more knowledge is needed to fully understand the underlying mechanisms.

3 Objectives

The main goal and everyone's dream when working with late blight is to find a solution that will control the disease and thereby decrease the amount of fungicides used. After having worked with this pathogen for a while you discover that this organism is quite complex and the main goal feels further and further away. However, with small steps and more knowledge of the underlying mechanisms of this pathogen and disease the goal might eventually be reached. The objectives for this thesis are to study how sexual reproduction affects the population biology of *Phytophthora infestans*. This was done by answering the questions:

- How is the population of the late blight pathogen in the Nordic countries structured? Is a predominant clonal lineage present as in other European countries? Is there a migration pattern between the Nordic countries? Is the reproductive mode primarily sexual or asexual?
- Do the first genotypes of *P. infestans* in a field persist during the season and do they have any epidemiological advantage? Can the first genotypes compete against the genotypes coming in from outside?
- Is the Swedish population of *P. infestans* differentiated with respect to the two different hosts, hairy nightshade and potato? Can the pathogen be more aggressive on any of the hosts?
- Are there any differences in effector variation in a clonal population of *P. infestans* compared to a sexually reproducing one?

4 Methods for studying population biology of plant pathogens

With a more intensive agriculture, more environmental awareness and the goals to feed the world, new strategies must be developed to understand more about plant-pathogen interaction and population biology of plant pathogens. Many of these are fast evolving organisms that easily adapt to environmental changes (McDonald, 1997) and it is therefore important to study and monitor their population genetics in order to develop good control strategies.

Plant pathogenic organisms can have several stages, a sexual or/and asexual life cycle and a diploid or haploid phase. Knowledge about these traits is a prerequisite when studying many basic processes in population biology (Stukenbrock & McDonald, 2008). Samples of plant pathogens are easy to collect in large numbers and relatively easy to culture and maintain in the laboratory. When studying the genetics of plant pathogens it is important to have genetic markers that give relevant information. Traditionally, plant pathologists have used fungicide resistance and virulence as markers. These functional markers have of course been important in agriculture and very useful for chemical companies and breeders. However, virulence and fungicide resistance factors are under strong selection pressure in agricultural systems and the results might be biased if using only these factors. It is sometimes problematic to collect a representative sample of the population in question, and choose the right method of analysis. What is observed in the field can sometimes be hard to study with laboratory methods and analyses. Especially when studying the population biology of plant pathogens, the definition of a population can be difficult to interpret. In the case of potato and P. infestans, the host plant is usually cultivated only during a certain period of the year and the pathogen is subjected to man-mediated movement of inocula, both of which complicates the definition of the pathogen population.

4.1 Field work

In population biology, it is important to start with an appropriate sampling of the material in question when studying allele frequencies. The sampling depends on the question you want to answer and what is known about the population beforehand. A stratified sampling (paper I) is considered to be a good strategy since it can deal with several aspects and levels of the pathogen population in question (McDonald, 1997). With this method, all levels from single leaflets, plants, disease foci, field, region and country can be covered. The sampling of a plant pathogen can be challenging since the life cycle and dispersal of the pathogen is highly influenced by the weather conditions.

The traditional way of sampling plant pathogens is to collect living material and then transfer it to a suitable artificial medium. This method is time consuming and limits the sample size. It is moreover a selective method since some isolates might be lost during culturing. During the last years, FTA-cards used in forensic science have become popular also in plant pathology. The method is easy to use and simplifies transport of material between labs and across borders. Another method that is simple and inexpensive is to dry infected leaflets and extract the pathogen DNA directly from them. With this method it is possible to collect and analyse a large number of samples. This approach also reduces the risks of getting a biased result due to loss of isolates.

4.2 Characterising phenotypes

There are important traits for plant pathogens that still cannot be measured with genetic markers. These traits are often put together in the term aggressiveness. Originally, Vanderplank (1963) was first to define the term aggressiveness as the quantity of disease caused by a pathogen on a compatible host. Traits commonly used as components of aggressiveness are latency period (the time between infection and spore production), lesion growth (how fast the lesion expands) and sporulation capacity (number of spores formed per lesion). In the interaction between host and pathogen the environment is an important factor which also influences the disease severity. Usually, when assessing aggressiveness the environmental and host traits are kept constant when determining and measuring the pathogen dependent characters. Aggressiveness of P. infestans has been extensively studied by comparing different potato cultivars (Carlisle et al., 2002), various growing regions (Day & Shattock, 1997, Flier & Turkensteen, 1999) and alternative crops (Lebreton et al., 1999). However, less work has been done on aggressiveness of this pathogen on non-crop Solanaceae species (Platt, 1999, Fontem et al., 2004,

Olanya *et al.*, 2005). In paper III the aggressiveness of *P. infestans* is compared on potato and the weed hairy nightshade (*S. physalifolium*) (Grönberg *et al.*, 2012).

When assessing aggressiveness, the size of the experiment depends on if it is performed on detached leaflets or whole plants, in growth chambers or in the field. In order to have a representative sample of the natural variation in a population it is necessary to avoid selection caused by loss of "weak" isolates. This can be a potential risk during isolation on artificial media and can cause biased results from aggressiveness tests. Also, long term storage on artificial media will affect the aggressiveness of individual isolates. Usually, the aggressiveness tends to decrease when a plant pathogen is continuously cultured in the laboratory. Another important source of error is the condition of the plant material used for inoculation (Lehtinen et al., 2009). To improve the validity of the results in paper III, sporangia from all isolates used in the aggressiveness tests were harvested directly from the sampled leaves, and all test-leaves used for inoculation were taken from field grown plants of potato and hairy nightshade. *Phytophthora infestans* can infect both potato tubers and foliage. However, the resistance levels in foliage and tubers within a cultivar are usually not correlated and therefore the aggressiveness is best tested separately for tubers and foliage.

There can sometimes be confusion between the term aggressiveness and virulence. Virulence is another phenotypic characteristic in plant pathogens and is defined as the ability of a pathogen to infect a particular host genotype (Van der Plank, 1968). For *P. infestans* the virulence refers to the ability of a specific genotype to overcome specific R-genes (resistance genes) in the plant. There are differential potato lines where each clone contains one of the eleven R-genes. These can be used to define the virulence/avirulence of isolates from a population. The virulence is not correlated to the aggressiveness. For example, populations of *P. infestans* can display different unlinked levels of variation in genotypes, aggressiveness and virulence spectra.

4.3 Characterising genotypes

During the last decade the methods for studying population biology of plant pathogens have developed tremendously. Monitoring of late blight is common today and changes in population structure and biology occur since *P. infestans* is a fast evolving pathogen. Detecting and identifying genotypes will answer the questions about genetic drift, migration and recombination, which will give a good overview of the population biology. However, no single marker system is perfect (Milbourne *et al.*, 1997) and can fulfil all the requirements and

aspects of P. infestans research. Before development of the DNA-based molecular methods isozyme variation was used. The isozymes give a low resolution and the analysis is very time consuming. Another time consuming method is RFLP (restriction fragment length polymorphism) with the probe RG57 (Goodwin et al., 1992). This gives a fingerprint and has been a valuable tool for detecting genetic variation. The disadvantage is that the data is difficult to interpret and a large amount of DNA is required. After the mitochondrial genome of P. infestans was sequenced, mitochondrial DNA markers were developed. However, the variation in mitochondrial haplotypes for P. infestans is very limited and the resolution is also for these markers low. Furthermore, to address questions with respect to population genetics such as recombination, genetic drift etc., markers from the nuclear genome are required. AFLP markers (amplified fragment length polymorphism) have a high resolution since they yield many loci per primer combination (Van der Lee et al., 1997). This method is however also time-consuming and it is difficult to compare results between laboratories. In addition, these markers are dominant, i.e. cannot distinguish between heterozygotes and homozygotes, and therefore not very suitable for a diploid organism like *P. infestans*.

At present, the most used markers are SSRs (simple sequence repeats) also called microsatellites. The SSR-markers are ideal for studying population structure since they are highly polymorphic, well-defined and easy to score (Cooke & Lees, 2004). Additionally, the markers are co-dominant which gives the possibility to track both alleles at the same locus. Another benefit is that only small amounts of DNA are required. In this thesis all the genotyping (paper I, II and III) has been done with SSRs developed by Knapova et al (2001) and Lees et al (2006). In paper I, six SSRs were used to identify the population structure in the Nordic countries. The number of unique multilocus genotypes found (paper I) was high compared to the total number of isolates sampled. This indicates that the number of SSRs was sufficient since the genotype saturation was reached with a low number or markers. However, neutral markers like SSRs cannot reveal the race structure of an isolate. A marker which shares most of its advantages with SSRs is SNPs (single nucleotide polymorphism). Mutation rates are easier to score with SNPs compared with SSRs. However, the SNPs have so far not been used in population studies of P. infestans but with developing techniques and more investigation from the genome this could be markers to use in the future.

Due to the wide range of markers used in the different laboratories it is difficult to compare population genetic data of *P. infestans* between research groups.

4.4 Sequencing

With the genome of *P. infestans* sequenced, new possibilities of studying population biology has arrived. The sequencing of different species and isolates makes it possible to perform powerful phylogenetic studies. With a high throughput method it will be possible to estimate the type and extent of selection pressure on functional genes.

Population studies can be taken to new levels by sequencing and comparing the whole genomes instead of specific regions. With the discovery of effector genes the evolutionary drivers of pathogenicity can now be explored. Hopefully, these methods will increase the knowledge of observed phenotypes and available resistance genes.

4.5 Analysing population genetic data

When studying population biology one of the most important attributes to investigate is the genetic diversity. With constantly changing environments the genetic diversity is necessary for a population to continuously evolve and adapt to new situations. The majority of the estimates for genetic diversity are based on the allele frequencies. Most of the population genetic analyses are designed for a diploid or haploid organism. However, for *P. infestans* the occurrence of more than two alleles in a locus has been reported (Brurberg *et al.*, 2011). It has proven to be challenging to analyse populations comprised of a mixture of isolates with different ploidies (Cooke *et al.*, 2011). However, there is a recent method (Bruvo *et al.*, 2004) for dealing with the problem of ploidy mixture in a population which has been further developed and implemented in the statistical program R as the package POLYSAT (Clark & Jasieniuk, 2011). This will hopefully improve the genetic analyses and interpretation of *P. infestans* populations.

Moreover, when studying population genetic data most analyses are developed for populations at Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium. However, plant pathogens under agricultural conditions are often not likely to be at evolutionary equilibrium. The definition of a population for a plant pathogen can be challenging (McDonald & McDermott, 1993). For *P. infestans*, it is the host (potato) which sets the boundaries for the definition of a population. In addition, the man-mediated movement of inoculum of *P. infestans* (seed tubers) and introduced selection (e.g. fungicide use), means that common analyses for population genetic data are not fully applicable for *P. infestans* on potato. In order to test for sexual recombination, it may be sufficient to check for the presence of sexual structures of the pathogen, if mating types are in equal proportions and if there is high genotypic diversity. A simple and fast

method to check for genotypic diversity is to divide the number of unique multilocus genotypes with the total number of samples (Paper I and II). A population with high genotypic variation results in a ratio close to one which would indicate that sexual recombination takes place.

5 How sexual reproduction affects the population biology of *Phytophthora infestans*

5.1 Population structure and migration patterns of *P. infestans* in the Nordic countries (paper I)

The late blight agent *Phytophthora infestans* has been extensively studied throughout the world and many population studies have been conducted. During the past several decades there have been major changes in the population structures of *P. infestans*. Sexual reproduction occurs outside central Mexico but still most populations are dominated by asexual reproduction. These changes are probably due to migration, sexual reproduction and mutation/selection. The clonal lineage "blue_13", which is dominant in Europe seems likely to have resulted from sexual reproduction (Fry *et al.*, 2009).

The population of the late blight pathogen in the Nordic countries does not have this dominant clonal lineage and is one of the regions outside Mexico where sexual reproduction and production of oospores occur (Andersson *et al.*, 1998, Brurberg *et al.*, 2011, Widmark *et al.*, 2011). These studies suggest that sexual reproduction in *P. infestans* does take place in the Nordic countries but the question of how common it is still remains open. The migration patterns between the different Nordic countries have also been unknown but it is hypothesized that the migration rates are linked to the geographical distances.



Figure 4. A map of the Nordic countries with circles representing the different sampling sites. The light grey colour corresponds to the proportion of unique multilocus genotypes found in each field (sampling site). The dark grey corresponds to the proportion of clones found in each field. The clones were unique for the field and could be found anywhere else.

The results from our study showed that the genotypic variation is very high in the Nordic region. From 836 isolates, 524 multilocus genotypes were detected and most of the variation was found within fields. The clones were only found in the lowest strata (foci within field or within field if no defined foci were found), figure 4. The high genotypic variation of P. infestans was expected but the lack of population differentiation was a surprise, however, this is in agreement with the presence of sexual reproduction, which is also supported by the low association among loci. As mentioned, previous reports show that sexual reproduction of P. infestans and oospore formation occurs in the Nordic countries. The oospores might have an advantage by resulting in earlier infections compared to tuber derived inoculum (Yuen, 2012). Our results indicate that oospores are an important inoculum source which will have a strong influence on the population structure within fields. A single mating between an A1- and an A2 P. infestans isolate can result in thousands of oospores in a single leaflet (Götz, 1991). According to earlier mating experiments not all crossings will produce infectious oospores (Smoot et al., 1958, Fay & Fry, 1997). However, as infections from tubers are a rare event, even a limited inoculum load from the oospores could have a considerable effect on the population biology of *P. infestans*. Oospores can infect all through the season, and in this way constantly introduce new genotypes, reduce the limiting effect of selection on the genotypic variation during the season. It is also possible that the population of *P. infestans* in the Nordic countries has adopted another strategy of survival than in other regions. With distinct growing seasons with cold winters in between and no other host present than potato tubers, the pathogen increases the chances of survival with the ability to form oospores instead of only clonal overwintering in tubers.

It is, however, unlikely that infections originating from oospores cause the high genotypic variation in all fields. Sometime in the past there must have been a change in the population from solely clonal to more sexual reproduction of *P. infestans* in the Nordic countries, but it is not known how long sexual reproduction has been present. It can be assumed that the high genotypic variation resulting from sexual reproduction will be reflected and accumulated in the population that overwinters in infected tubers. Consequently, planted infected seed tubers may already have a high genotypic diversity of *P. infestans* which later will also be seen in the foliage.

As seen from our results, the export-import of seed tubers between the Nordic countries was not correlated to the migration patterns. It was believed that the migration rates between closely related countries would be high, and a low migration rate between countries situated further away from each other. However, the differences in migration rates are most likely caused by a higher degree of genetic similarity between the pathogen populations as can be seen for the populations in Sweden and Denmark compared to Denmark and Finland. The analysis of the maximum likelihood indicates that the populations of *P. infestans* in Sweden and Denmark are genotypically very similar when compared to the rest of the Nordic countries. Moreover, the exchange of airborne inoculum between Sweden and Denmark is possible since the cultivation of potato is concentrated to two geographical areas situated close to each other.

The sexual reproduction of the late blight pathogen in the Nordic countries affects the population biology in different ways. The additional source of inoculum makes disease control based on crop rotation problematic and high genotypic variation gives the pathogen increased adaptive capacity to new conditions, e.g. climate, fungicides and cultivars.

5.2 Immigration and persistence of *P. infestans* in a single field (paper II)

In Sweden, the population of *P. infestans* is highly diverse and oospores act as an important source of inoculum, however, it is difficult to predict the epidemiological consequences of such a population. Infected tubers have been considered as the most common way for the pathogen to overwinter (Zwankhuizen *et al.*, 1998), however it is important, to be aware of that only a low proportion of infected tubers will produce infected plants (van der Zaag, 1956, Hirst & Stedman, 1960, Inglis *et al.*, 1999). As mentioned earlier, only a small proportion of all crossings between an A1- and an A2 *P. infestans* isolate will produce infectious oospores. However, even if very few oospores infect the crop they could be of importance as primary inoculum since a restricted number of successful infections could have a big impact on the epidemiology of late blight.

In this study, tubers were inoculated with known genotypes of *P. infestans* (originating from foliage or tubers) and planted in a field trial. The population of the late blight pathogen was monitored during the season to investigate if the isolates causing the first infections will affect the population structure throughout the season. The field trial was situated on an experimental farm and was surrounded by potato fields treated with fungicides. The hypothesis was that the isolates used for the inoculation of the tubers would give the first symptoms and have an advantage compared to airborne immigrating genotypes from the surrounding fields.

In contrast to the hypothesis, the immigrant genotypes dominated the population of the late blight pathogen and were continuously introduced into the field. As a result, the isolates used to inoculate the seed tubers had very little impact on the *P. infestans* population in the trial. The genotypic variation was high and the population gradually shifted during the season. This indicates the lack of dominating clonal lineages of P. infestans in the infected fields in the region, unlike what can be seen in other European countries (Lees et al., 2008, Montarry et al., 2010). Genotypes from the seed tubers do not necessarily start the epidemic of late blight. In Sweden, oospores act as an additional inoculum source. In this particular field trial it is unlikely that the first infections originated from oospores due to the stringent late blight control on the research farm. Therefore, it can be assumed that the first infections were caused by immigrant inocula from surrounding fields. This inoculum load must have a high genotypic diversity, which probably originates from germinating oospores and/or infected tubers carrying of a variety of genotypes. The first observed infections in the field came relatively early in the season and showed a high diversity, implicating oospores as inoculum source. The oospores must



originate from other fields and are a result of previous years random mating in the crop. From a population biology perspective, this observation is important since it may explain the low genetic differentiation observed among populations (paper I). The genotypes originating from the tubers will be moved between farms and may only have a small immediate effect on the population. However, the genotypes from the tubers can mate with other genotypes and produce oospores. These oospores would then be the source of *P. infestans* infections the following year, and this would be enough to counteract genetic drift.

All of the isolates gave tuber infection after incubation and there was a strong correlation between the proportions of emerged plants and infected tubers. Since the isolates differed in the ability to infect tubers the plots also differed in plant emergence, fig 5. This indicates that almost none of the infected tubers were able to develop emerging plants, resulting in the low recovery rate of the isolates used to infect the tubers. All genotypes used in the inoculation were recovered but only once at the third sampling time. The difference in crop emergence and plant density could have an effect on the micro climate in the plots. It might have been better to dilute the amount of infected tubers with healthy ones before planting so that all plots had the same proportion of infected tubers. However, in our field trial the two plots with the highest crop density were the last to show symptoms of late blight. A possible explanation for this is that the weather during the sampling period was very conducive for late blight, compensating for any differences in crop microclimate.



Figure 5. The field trial with seed tubers inoculated with known genotypes of *P. infestans.* To the left a plot planted with healthy seed tubers, to the right a plot with heavily infected seed tubers. Photo: L. Sjöholm

It has been reported that different strains of *P. infestans* vary in their ability to infect tubers (Lambert & Currier, 1997) and possibly also have different abilities to start new epidemics. The origin of the isolates used for inoculation of the seed tubers could have played a role in the infection rate. Genotypes originating from tubers must have had the ability to infect the plant and persist in the foliage to sporulate and infect the tubers. The *P. infestans* isolates originating from tubers have therefore been selected for epidemiological fitness (the ability to compete with other genotypes). In the field trial, however, no effect of isolate origin was detected.

In a clonal population of *P. infestans* a high aggressiveness is not necessarily the best trait for an isolate to be able to overwinter in tubers (Montarry *et al.*, 2007). Genotypes with less aggressiveness sporulate for a longer period during the season and the chances of infecting tubers increase. With high aggressiveness the genotype can dominate the epidemic during the season. However, highly aggressive genotypes present in the tubers will increase the risk of rotting in the soil before emergence. This will result in a bottleneck giving a negative selection for aggressive isolates of *P. infestans* (Shattock, 1976).

In an earlier report, the aggressiveness of *P. infestans* in the sexually reproducing population in the Nordic countries was analysed, and only small differences were found in isolates from Sweden, Denmark, Norway and Finland. This could be explained by sexual reproduction breaking up favourable sets of alleles in more aggressive genotypes and "diluting" the overall aggressiveness in the population (Lehtinen et al., 2009). However, in our field trial one genotype showed higher competitiveness indicating that some variation in epidemic fitness exists in the Swedish population of P. infestans. With a sexually reproducing population the additional source of inoculum in the form of oospores plays an important part in the epidemiology of the late blight. The oospores can survive in the soil between seasons without any host present. Also, unlike infections originating from tubers, oospores can germinate and infect the crop all through the growing season. Sexually formed oospores can introduce new genotypes with a higher epidemic fitness compared to old genotypes (Day & Shattock, 1997). This can result in increased epidemic growth rates (Zwankhuizen et al., 2000) and add to the already immense problems of controlling late blight in potato.

5.3 Population differentiation of *P. infestans* on two different hosts (paper III)

In the south of Sweden two hosts of late blight, hairy nightshade (*Solanum physalifolium*) and potato (*Solanum tuberosum*) are present. These two hosts co-exist with a sexually reproducing population of *P. infestans* present, which led to the hypothesis that there is a population differentiation of the late blight pathogen on the two hosts. The genotypic variation of *P. infestans* was high on both hosts, however no genetic differentiation using the SSR-markers could be found between the two hosts. It was assumed that if the two hosts would have been in allopatry, the populations would have been more differentiated since other studies have shown genetic differentiation of *P. infestans* on different hosts (Lebreton & Andrivon, 1998, Erselius *et al.*, 1999, Knapova *et al.*, 2001).

However, the phenotypic data showed differentiation of the pathogen on hairy nightshade and potato. Isolates originating from hairy nightshade had a shorter latency period and higher sporulation capacity when inoculated on potato compared to isolates originating from potato. Additionally, the nightshade isolates could more easily infect nightshade plants compared with the potato isolates but this difference was not seen on potato plants. The results suggest that only parts of the *P. infestans* population in the sampled field were able to infect the hairy nightshade and also that it is easier for the pathogen to infect potato than hairy nightshade. This will mean that "weaker" isolates restricted to potato will be outcompeted by the isolates coming from nightshade. In this way, the population of *P. infestans* will be filtered towards an increased aggressiveness on the potato crop.

One can speculate why *P. infestans* will infect the hairy nightshade at all? During the sampling, all of the hairy nightshade plants observed in the region were infected even though the late blight epidemic probably starts on the potato since it would be established before the weed. One explanation could be that the sexually reproducing population of *P. infestans* in this region (Widmark *et al.*, 2007, Brurberg *et al.*, 2011) generates new genotypes that can infect new hosts at a higher rate compared to in a clonal population. However, it is not only the pathogen which has a sexual reproduction but also the nightshade, which can increase the selection pressure towards more aggressive genotypes of the pathogen.

Oospore formation of *P. infestans* has been reported in *S. physalifolium* (Andersson *et al.*, 2003). In an additional study (Björling, 2012) the same isolates of *P. infestans* collected from hairy nightshade and potato were used to investigate if the isolate origin could affect the ability to produce oospores. The group where both isolates of *P. infestans* originated from hairy nightshade (NN) produced significantly more oospores per cm² on potato compared to the

group where both isolates originated from potato (PP), figure 6. Moreover, the results show that the group with one isolate originating from hairy nightshade and one from potato (NP) also produced significantly more oospores than the PP group. This indicates that as soon as isolates of *P. infestans* originating from hairy nightshade are involved in mating type crosses they produce more oospores than isolates originating from potato. These crosses were also tested on nightshade leaves and the same pattern could be seen with the NN-group that produced more oospores per cm² compared to the other groups. However, these results were not statistically significant.



Figure 6. The mean number of oospores per cm² produced by crosses between isolates of *P. infestans* from hairy nightshade-hairy nightshade (NN), hairy nightshade-potato (NP) and potatopotato (PP). Error bars indicate the 95% confidence interval. Means with the same letter are not significantly different (Students T, $p \le 0.05$).

The genotypes from hairy nightshade might have undergone more selection for oospore production compared to isolates originating from potato since the hairy nightshade does not produce tubers and the pathogen cannot overwinter except in the form of oospores. Oospores acting as inoculum will increase the genotypic variation and, thereby, the adaptability of the pathogen population.

If the weed hairy nightshade is present in a potato field it will increase the problems with late blight. Not only can isolates of *P. infestans* from hairy nightshade increase the aggressiveness on the potato but they also increase the production of oospores. In Swedish potato production, crop rotation is normally practised to manage problems with soil borne pathogens. With hairy nightshade present both as a weed and an alternative host to *P. infestans* the effect of a good crop rotation is reduced. Hairy nightshade will function as a reservoir for the pathogen by supporting oospore formation. Earlier epidemics, possibly caused by oospores, in combination with an increased aggressiveness will have serious consequences for the control of potato late blight.

5.4 Variation in effectors (paper IV)

Phytophthora infestans is notorious for overcoming and adapting in response to R genes (Wastie, 1991). To understand more about the pathogen-plant interaction more knowledge is needed regarding the function and variation in effector proteins. The durability of an R gene is highly dependent on the stability or the role of its corresponding effector. This means that if an Avr gene can mutate without decreasing the fitness, the pathogen can avoid recognition and overcome the resistance. However, there is no knowledge of how or if the effectors vary between different population of *P. infestans*. Most populations of the late blight pathogen in the world are clonal (Akino *et al.*, 2004, Guo *et al.*, 2009, Blandón-Díaz *et al.*, 2012, Hu *et al.*, 2012). Nicaragua is one example of a country where the population of *P. infestans* belongs to one dominant clonal lineage. Nevertheless, the population in Nicaragua is very variable with regard to functional characters such as the virulence spectra and fungicide resistance.

In this study, the diversity in the PiAvr4 effector gene in a clonally reproducing population of *P. infestans* was investigated with regard to any possible mutations or deletions. The sexually reproducing population of *P. infestans* from Sweden was used as an outgroup. Our hypothesis is that since the R4 resistance is rarely seen, *P. infestans* in Nicaragua has a mutation or deletion in the PiAvr4 locus. A second objective was to look for any indications of recent population expansion in the Nicaraguan population of *P. infestans*.

The results revealed that all isolates from the Nicaraguan and Swedish population of P. infestans had a frame shift at the same position resulting in that the PiAvr4 is not recognised and that all genotypes therefore can infect plants with the R4 gene. These results are in agreement with a previous study from Nicaragua where a high phenotypic variation was found. The population most frequently overcame resistance genes R1, R3, R4, R7 and R11 and the most complex races of the pathogen overcame eight and nine resistance genes, respectively. The high virulence diversity in a clonal population can be explained by the fact that the Avr genes encoding effectors are located in highly variable regions of the genome (Jiang et al., 2008). The selection pressure is much higher on the PiAvr4 diversity compared to the neutral microsatellite diversity. The results from this study also indicate that the population of P. infestans in Nicaragua has undergone a population expansion and/or selection. This can be an explanation why the present genotype NI-1 has replaced the "old" genotype(s) and is now the dominating one as suggested by Blandón-Díaz (2012).

The sexually reproducing population of *P. infestans* in this study is only represented by three isolates. Further sequencing is needed to be able to draw any conclusions about the effector diversity in a recombining population. However, the results indicate that the reproduction system in a population of *P. infestans* does not necessarily reflect the variation in virulence factors. The phenotypic variation in the Swedish population of the late blight pathogen is high as could be expected in a recombining population. An earlier study showed that all virulence genes except the one corresponding to R9 could be found in the Swedish population. The lack of virulence to R9 can be explained by the absence of selection pressure since R9 has never been introduced in commercial cultivars (Lehtinen *et al.*, 2008). The use of cultivars in Sweden carrying the R4 gene is at present unknown.

Effectors are examples of good genes to study since they might increase the knowledge of the pathogen-plant interaction. Of course, further studies of other clonal and sexually reproducing populations of *P. infestans* need to be done to clarify the possible differences in effector variation. However, it is still important to observe how the pathogen behaves in field situations as well as pursuing functional studies of *P. infestans* effectors in order to increase the knowledge of control methods.

6 Conclusions

The population biology of *P. infestans* in the Nordic countries is complex and is similar to the pattern seen in the centre of origin in central Mexico.

- The late blight pathogen is reproducing sexually in the Nordic countries. As a result, the pathogen population has a high genotypic variation and no dominating clonal lineage. The lack of dominant clonal lineages might be explained by the cold winters and discrete growing season.
- The sexual reproduction of the pathogen also influences the migration patterns between the Nordic countries. The geographical distances, however, are not linked to the gene flow.
- Genotypes of *P. infestans* originating from tubers do not always start the epidemic and are not able to dominate the pathogen population during the season. New immigrants, which probably originate from oospore derived infections from outside, are more important for the epidemiology of the disease.
- The alternative host, hairy nightshade selects the *P. infestans* population towards increased aggressiveness on potato. Additionally, crosses between mating types of *P. infestans* collected from hairy nightshade produce more oospores than crosses between isolates collected from potato. The presence of an alternative host will have major consequences for the control of late blight in potato production.
- All isolates of *P. infestans* from Nicaragua and Sweden had a frame-shift mutation in the Avr4 locus resulting in that all isolates can infect R4 plants. This indicates the presence of a selection pressure for *P. infestans* to loose intact Avr4 genes. The population from Nicaragua has undergone a recent population expansion which can be explained by the replacement of the "old" genotype(s) to the new dominating NI-1.

7 Future perspectives

The late blight pathogen has been studied for more than 170 years and there are still many question marks to be straightened out. During this time there have been major changes in the population structure of P. infestans. Most populations are still dominated by asexual reproduction but in some parts of the world sexual reproduction is more common. This is probably due to migration, selection and local conditions. The changes in population structure have a huge impact on the epidemics and the control of late blight. However, there is still a knowledge gap in how important oospores are for the epidemiology of late blight and if the oospores can germinate during the season. The Swedish population of *P. infestans* is excellent for studying these questions. The genome of P. infestans has been sequenced and the discovery of the large collection of effector genes has increased the knowledge of the pathology of the late blight pathogen. In the Swedish population of P. infestans it would be interesting to investigate the effector variation in genotypes infecting potato and the alternative host, hairy nightshade. Will similar effectors have distinct function in different pathogen-host interactions?

Can the alternative host hairy nightshade, present as a weed in the South of Sweden select for a higher aggressiveness compared to newly introduced nightshades further north? Climate change can influence the population biology of *P. infestans* in the Nordic countries. That hairy nightshade is spreading further north is already a fact. Another effect from milder winters in Sweden could be an increased clonal survival of the pathogen. All this will have an effect on the population structure of *P. infestans*.

Phytophthora infestans has been shown to be evolving quickly and can easily overcome resistance genes. The genomes of both the host and the pathogen are sequenced, and this knowledge can be used in combination with high throughput methods to study potato late blight. However, in the future, the monitoring of genotypic and phenotypic changes in the pathogen will still be very important to increase the understanding of how the disease behaves in

field situations. This will hopefully lead to improved breeding of cultivars with durable resistance.

References

- Akino, S., Gotoh, K., Nishimura, R., Maeda, A., Naito, S. & Ogoshi, A. 2004. Comparison of Chinese and Japanese A1 isolates of *Phytophthora infestans. Journal of General Plant Pathology*, 70, 212-214.
- Andersson, B., Johansson, M. & Jonsson, B. 2003. First report of Solanum physalifolium as a host plant for Phytophthora infestans in Sweden. Plant Disease, 87, 1538-1538.
- Andersson, B., Sandström, M. & Strömberg, A. 1998. Indications of soil borne inoculum of *Phytophthora infestans*. *Potato Research*, 41, 305-310.
- Andrivon, D. 1995. Biology, ecology and epidemiology of the potato late blight pathogen *Phytophthora infestans* in soil. *Phytopathology*, 85, 1053-1056.
- Andrivon, D. 1996. The origin of *Phytophthora infestans* populations present in Europe in the 1840s: A critical review of historical and scientific evidence. *Plant Pathology*, 45, 1027-1035.
- Armstrong, M.R., Whisson, S.C., Pritchard, L., Bos, J.I.B., Venter, E., Avrova, A.O., Rehmany, A.P., Bohme, U., Brooks, K., Cherevach, I., Hamlin, N., White, B., Frasers, A., Lord, A., Quail, M.A., Churcher, C., Hall, N., Berriman, M., Huang, S., Kamoun, S., Beynon, J.L. & Birch, P.R.J. 2005. An ancestral oomycete locus contains late blight avirulence gene Avr3a, encoding a protein that is recognized in the host cytoplasm. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 102, 7766-7771.
- Baka, Z.a.M. 1997. Mating type, nuclear DNA content and isozyme analysis of Egyptian isolates of *Phytophthora infestans*. Folia Microbiologica, 42, 613-620.
- Björling, O. 2012. Oosporbildning av *Phytophthora infestans* i potatis och bägarnattskatta. Uppsala: Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of Forest mycology and plant pathology, Bachelor thesis.
- Black, W., Mastenbroek, C., Mills, W.R. & Peterson, L.C. 1953. A proposal for an international nomenclature of races of *Phytophthora infestans* and of genes controlling immunity in *Solanum demissum* derivatives. *Euphytica*, 2, 173-179.
- Blandón-Díaz, J.U., Widmark, A.K., Hannukkala, A., Andersson, B., Högberg, N. & Yuen, J.E. 2012. Phenotypic variation within a clonal lineage of *Phytophthora infestans* infecting both tomato and potato in Nicaragua. *Phytopathology*, 102, 323-330.
- Bourke, A. 1991. Potato blight in Europe in 1845: the scientific controversy. *In:* Lucas, JA, Shattock, RC, Shaw, DS & Cooke, LR (eds.) *Phytophthora*. Cambridge: British mycological society.

- Brurberg, M.B., Elameen, A., Le, V.H., Naerstad, R., Hermansen, A., Lehtinen, A., Hannukkala, A., Nielsen, B., Hansen, J., Andersson, B. & Yuen, J. 2011. Genetic analysis of *Phytophthora infestans* populations in the Nordic countries reveals high genetic variability. *Fungal Biology*, 115, 335-342.
- Brurberg, M.B., Hannukkala, A. & Hermansen, A. 1999. Genetic variability of *Phytophthora infestans* in Norway and Finland as revealed by mating type and fingerprint probe RG57. *Mycological Research*, 103, 1609-1615.
- Bruvo, R., Michiels, N.K., D'souza, T.G. & Schulenburg, H. 2004. A simple method for the calculation of microsatellite genotype distances irrespective of ploidy level. *Molecular Ecology*, 13, 2101-2106.
- Carlisle, D.J., Cooke, L.R., Watson, S. & Brown, A.E. 2002. Foliar aggressiveness of Northern Ireland isolates of *Phytophthora infestans* on detached leaflets of three potato cultivars. *Plant Pathology* 51, 424-434.
- Clark, L.V. & Jasieniuk, M. 2011. POLYSAT: an R package for polyploid microsatellite analysis. *Molecular Ecology Resources*, 11, 562-566.
- Cooke, D.E.L. & Lees, A.K. 2004. Markers, old and new, for examining *Phytophthora infestans* diversity. *Plant Pathology*, 53, 692-704.
- Cooke, D.E.L., Lees, A.K., Lassen, P. & Grønbech-Hansen, J. Making sense of *Phytophthora infestans* diversity at national and international scales. *In:* Schepers, HTaM, ed. Thirteenth Euroblight workshop 2011 St. Petersburg, Russia. 37-44.
- Cooke, L.R., Carlisle, D.J., Wilson, D.G. & Deahl, K.L. 2002. Natural occurrence of *Phytophthora infestans* on woody nightshade (*Solanum dulcamara*) in Ireland. *Plant Pathology*, 51, 392-392.
- Day, J.P. & Shattock, R.C. 1997. Aggressiveness and other factors relating to displacement of populations of *Phytophthora infestans* in England and Wales. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, 103, 379-391.
- Deahl, K.L., Jones, R., Wanner, L.A. & Plant, A. 2005. Late blight caused by *Phytophthora* infestans on Solanum sarrachoides in northeastern Maine. *Plant Disease*, 89, 435-435.
- Drenth, A., Janssen, E.M. & Govers, F. 1995. Formation and survival of oospores of *Phytophthora infestans* under natural conditions. *Plant pathology*, 86-94.
- Drenth, A., Tas, I. & Govers, F. 1994. DNA fingerprinting uncovers a new sexually reproducing population of *Phytophthora infestans* in the Netherlands. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, 100, 97-107.
- Eckersten, H., Andersson, L., Holstein, F., Mannerstedt Fogelfors, B., Lewan, E., Sigvald, R., Torssell, B. & Karlsson, S. 2008. Sverige inför klimatförändringar - hot och möjligheter [Online]. Uppsala: Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences. Available: http://www.regeringen.se/content/1/c6/08/93/34/557cfd35.pdf No. 6].
- Edmonds, J.M. 1986. Biosystematics of *Solanum sarrachoides* Sendtner and *S.physalifolium* Rusby (*S.nitidibaccatum* Bitter). *Botanical journal of the Linnean Society*, 92, 1-38.
- Elansky, S., Smirnov, A., Dyakov, Y., Dolgova, A., Filippov, A., Kozlovsky, B., Kozlovskaya, I., Russo, P., Smart, C. & Fry, W. 2001. Genotypic Analysis of Russian Isolates of *Phytophthora infestans* from the Moscow Region, Siberia and Far East. *Journal of Phytopathology*, 149, 605-611.



- Erselius, L.J., Hohl, H.R., Ordonez, M.E., Oyarzun, P.J., Jarrin, F., Velasco, A., Ramon, M.P. & Forbes, G.A. 1999. Genetic diversity among isolates of *Phytophthora infestans* from various hosts in Ecuador. *Impact on a changing world. International Potato Center Program Report* 1997-1998., 39-48.
- Erwin, D.C. & Ribeiro, O.K. 1996. *Phytophthora diseases worldwide*, St. Paul, Minnesota, American Phytopathological Society (APS Press).
- Fay, J.C. & Fry, W.E. 1997. Effects of hot and cold temperatures on the survival of oospores produced by United States strains of *Phytophthora infestans*. *American Potato Journal*, 74, 315-323.
- Fehrmann, H. & Dimond, A.E. 1967. Peroxidase activity and *Phytophthora* resistance in different organs of potato plant. *Phytopathology*, 57, 69-&.
- Flier, W.G. & Turkensteen, L.J. 1999. Foliar aggressiveness of *Phytophthora infestans* in three potato growing regions in the Netherlands. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, 105, 381-388.
- Flier, W.G., Van Den Bosch, G.B.M. & Turkensteen, L.J. 2003. Epidemiological importance of Solanum sisymbriifolium, S.nigrum and S.dulcamara as alternative hosts for Phytophthora infestans. Plant Pathology, 52, 595-603.
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Available: www.faostat.fao.org [Accessed November 13th 2012].
- Fontem, D.A., Olanya, O.M. & Njualem, B.F. 2004. Reaction of certain solanaceous and asteraceous plant species to inoculation with *Phytophthora infestans* in Cameroon. *Journal of Phytopathology*, 152, 331-336.
- Fry & Goodwin, S.B. 1997. Resurgence of the Irish potato famine fungus. *Bioscience*, 47, 363-371.
- Fry, W. 2008. Phytophthora infestans: the plant (and R gene) destroyer. Molecular Plant Pathology, 9, 727-727.
- Fry, W.E. & Doster, M.A. 1991. Potato Late blight: Forecasts and disease suppression. *In:* Lucas, JA, Shattock, RC, Shaw, DS & Cooke, LR (eds.) *Phytophthora*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press.
- Fry, W.E., Goodwin, S.B., Dyer, A.T., Matuszak, J.M., Drenth, A., Tooley, P.W., Sujkowski, L.S., Koh, Y.J., Cohen, B.A., Spielman, L.J., Deahl, K.L., Inglis, D.A. & Sandlan, K.P. 1993. Historical and recent migrations of *Phytophthora infestans*-chronology, pathways and implications. *Plant Disease*, 77, 653-661.
- Fry, W.E., Grünwald, N.J., Cooke, D.E.L., Mcleod, A., Forbes, G.A. & Cao, K. 2008. Population Genetics and Population Diversity of *Phytophthora infestans*. *Oomycete Genetics and Genomics*. John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Fry, W.E., Grünwald, N.J., Cooke, D.E.L., Mcleod, A., Forbes, G.A. & Cao, K. 2009. Population genetics and population diversity of *Phytophthora infestans*. *In:* Lamour, K & Kamoun, S (eds.) *Oomycete genetics and genomics: diversity, interactions and research tools*.
- Gisi, U., Walder, F., Resheat-Eini, Z., Edel, D. & Sierotzki, H. 2011. Changes of genotype, sensitivity and aggressiveness in *Phytophthora infestans* isolates collected in European countries in 1997, 2006 and 2007. *Journal of Phytopathology*, 159, 223-232.



- Gómez-Alpizar, L., Carbone, I. & Ristaino, J.B. 2007. An Andean origin of *Phytophthora* infestans inferred from mitochondrial and nuclear gene genealogies. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 104, 3306-3311.
- Goodwin, S.B., Cohen, B.A. & Fry, W.E. 1994. Panglobal distribution of a single clonal lineage of the Irish potato famine fungus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 91, 11591-11595.
- Goodwin, S.B., Drenth, A. & Fry, W.E. 1992. Cloning and genetic analyses of two highly polymorphic, moderately repetitive nuclear DNAs from *Phytophthora infestans*. *Current Genetics*, 22, 107-115.
- Grünwald, N.J. & Flier, W.G. 2005. The biology of *Phytophthora infestans* at its center of origin. *Annual Review of Phytopathology*. Palo Alto: Annual Reviews.
- Grönberg, L., Andersson, B. & Yuen, J. 2012. Can weed hosts increase aggressiveness of *Phytophthora infestans* on potato? *Phytopathology*, 102, 429-433.
- Guo, J., Lee, T.D., Qu, D.Y., Yao, Y.Q., Gong, X.F., Liang, D.L., Xie, K.Y., Wang, X.W. & Govers, F. 2009. *Phytophthora infestans* isolates from Northern China show high virulence diversity but low genotypic diversity. *Plant Biology*, 11, 57-67.
- Götz, E. 1991. Untersuchungen zum Auftreten des A₂-Paarungstyps bei *Phytophthora infestans* (Mont.) de Bary in Ostdeutschland. *Potato Research*, 34, 233-237.
- Haas, B.J., Kamoun, S., Zody, M.C., Jiang, R.H.Y., Handsaker, R.E., Cano, L.M., Grabherr, M., Kodira, C.D., Raffaele, S., Torto-Alalibo, T., Bozkurt, T.O., Ah-Fong, A.M.V., Alvarado, L., Anderson, V.L., Armstrong, M.R., Avrova, A., Baxter, L., Beynon, J., Boevink, P.C., Bollmann, S.R., Bos, J.I.B., Bulone, V., Cai, G., Cakir, C., Carrington, J.C., Chawner, M., Conti, L., Costanzo, S., Ewan, R., Fahlgren, N., Fischbach, M.A., Fugelstad, J., Gilroy, E.M., Gnerre, S., Green, P.J., Grenville-Briggs, L.J., Griffith, J., Grunwald, N.J., Horn, K., Horner, N.R., Hu, C.-H., Huitema, E., Jeong, D.-H., Jones, A.M.E., Jones, J.D.G., Jones, R.W., Karlsson, E.K., Kunjeti, S.G., Lamour, K., Liu, Z., Ma, L., Maclean, D., Chibucos, M.C., Mcdonald, H., Mcwalters, J., Meijer, H.J.G., Morgan, W., Morris, P.F., Munro, C.A., O'neill, K., Ospina-Giraldo, M., Pinzon, A., Pritchard, L., Ramsahoye, B., Ren, Q., Restrepo, S., Roy, S., Sadanandom, A., Savidor, A., Schornack, S., Schwartz, D.C., Schumann, U.D., Schwessinger, B., Seyer, L., Sharpe, T., Silvar, C., Song, J., Studholme, D.J., Sykes, S., Thines, M., Van De Vondervoort, P.J.I., Phuntumart, V., Wawra, S., Weide, R., Win, J., Young, C., Zhou, S., Fry, W., Meyers, B.C., Van West, P., Ristaino, J., Govers, F., Birch, P.R.J., Whisson, S.C., Judelson, H.S. & Nusbaum, C. 2009. Genome sequence and analysis of the Irish potato famine pathogen Phytophthora infestans. Nature, 461, 393-398.
- Hammi, A., Bennani, A., El Ismaili, A., Msatef, Y. & Serrhini, M.N. 2001. Production and germination of oospores of *Phytophthora infestans* (Mont.) de Bary in Morocco. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, 107, 553-556.
- Haverkort, A., Boonekamp, P., Hutten, R., Jacobsen, E., Lotz, L., Kessel, G., Visser, R. & Van Der Vossen, E. 2008. Societal Costs of Late Blight in Potato and Prospects of Durable Resistance Through Cisgenic Modification. *Potato Research*, 51, 47-57.
- Hirst, J.M. & Stedman, O.J. 1960. The epidemiology of *Phytophthora infestans* II. The source of inoculum. *Ann Appl Biol*, 48, 489-517.

- Hohl, H.R. & Iselin, K. 1984. Strains of *Phytophthora infestans* from Switzerland with A2 mating type behavior. *Transactions of the British Mycological Society*, 83, 529-530.
- Hu, C.-H., Perez, F.G., Donahoo, R., Mcleod, A., Myers, K., Ivors, K., Secor, G., Roberts, P.D., Deahl, K.L., Fry, W.E. & Ristaino, J.B. 2012. Recent Genotypes of *Phytophthora infestans* in the Eastern United States Reveal Clonal Populations and Reappearance of Mefenoxam Sensitivity. *Plant Disease*, 96, 1323-1330.
- Inglis, D.A., Powelson, M.L. & Dorrance, A.E. 1999. Effect of registered potato seed piece fungicides on tuber-borne *Phytophthora infestans*. *Plant Disease*, 83, 229-234.
- Jiang, R.H.Y., Tripathy, S., Govers, F. & Tyler, B.M. 2008. RXLR effector reservoir in two *Phytophthora* species is dominated by a single rapidly evolving superfamily with more than 700 members. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 105, 4874-4879.
- Kamoun, S. 2006. A catalogue of the effector secretome of plant pathogenic oomycetes. *Annual Review of Phytopathology*. Palo Alto: Annual Reviews.
- Kamoun, S., Huitema, E. & Vleeshouwers, V. 1999. Resistance to oomycetes: a general role for the hypersensitive response? *Trends in Plant Science*, 4, 196-200.
- Knapova, G., Tenzer, I., Gessler, C. & Gisi, U. 2001. Characterisation of *Phytophthora infestans* from potato and tomato with molecular markers. *The 5th congress of the European Foundation for Plant Pathology*. Taormina, Italy.
- Lambert, D.H. & Currier, A.I. 1997. Differences in tuber rot development for North American clones of *Phytophthora infestans*. American Potato Journal, 74, 39-43.
- Large, E.C. 1946. The advance of the fungi, London, W1, Henderson & Spalding.
- Lebreton, L. & Andrivon, D. 1998. French isolates of *Phytophthora infestans* from potato and tomato differ in phenotype and genotype. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, 104, 583– 594.
- Lebreton, L., Lucas, J.M. & Andrivon, D. 1999. Aggressiveness and competitive fitness of *Phytophthora infestans* isolates collected from potato and tomato in France. *Phytopathology*, 89, 679-686.
- Lees, A.K., Cooke, D.E.L., Stewart, J.A., Sullivan, L., Williams, N.A. & Carnegie, S.F. 2008. *Phytophthora infestans* population changes: implications. *In:* Schepers, HTaM (ed.) *Proceedings of the Eleventh Euroblight Workshop.* Hamar, Norway.
- Lees, A.K., Wattier, R., Shaw, D.S., Sullivan, L., Williams, N.A. & Cooke, D.E.L. 2006. Novel microsatellite markers for the analysis of *Phytophthora infestans* populations. *Plant Pathology*, 55, 311-319.
- Lehtinen, A., Andersson, B., Le, V.H., Naerstad, R., Rastas, M., Ketoja, E., Hannukkala, A.O., Hermansen, A., Nielsen, B.J., Hansen, J.G. & Yuen, J. 2009. Aggressiveness of *Phytophthora infestans* on detached potato leaflets in four Nordic countries. *Plant Pathology*, 58, 690-702.
- Lehtinen, A. & Hannukkala, A. 2004. Oospores of *Phytophthora infestans* in soil provide an important new source of primary inoculum in Finland. *Agricultural and Food Science*, 13, 399-410.
- Lehtinen, A., Hannukkala, A., Andersson, B., Hermansen, A., Le, V.H., Naerstad, R., Brurberg, M.B., Nielsen, B.J., Hansen, J.G. & Yuen, J. 2008. Phenotypic variation in Nordic populations of *Phytophthora infestans* in 2003. *Plant Pathology*, 57, 227-234.



- Mcdonald, B.A. 1997. The population genetics of fungi: tools and techniques. *The american phytopathology society*, 87.
- Mcdonald, B.A. & Mcdermott, J.M. 1993. Population genetics of plant pathogenic fungi. *Bioscience*, 43, 311-319.
- Mcleod, A., Denman, S., Sadie, A. & Denner, F.D.N. 2001. Characterization of South African isolates of *Phytophthora infestans*. *Plant Disease*, 85, 287-291.
- Milbourne, D., Meyer, R., Bradshaw, J.E., Baird, E., Bonar, N., Provan, J., Powell, W. & Waugh, R. 1997. Comparison of PCR-based marker systems for the analysis of genetic relationships in cultivated potato. *Molecular Breeding*, 3, 127-136.
- Mizubuti, E.S.G., Aylor, D.E. & Fry, W. 2000. Survival of *Phytophthora infestans* sporangia exposed to solar radiation. *The american phytopathology society*, 90, 78-84.
- Montarry, J., Andrivon, D., Glais, I., Corbiere, R., Mialdea, G. & Delmotte, F. 2010. Microsatellite markers reveal two admixed genetic groups and an ongoing displacement within the French population of the invasive plant pathogen *Phytophthora infestans*. *Molecular Ecology*, 19, 1965-1977.
- Montarry, J., Corbiere, R. & Andrivon, D. 2007. Is there a trade-off between aggressiveness and overwinter survival in *Phytophthora infestans? Functional Ecology*, 21, 603-610.
- Niederhauser, J.S. 1991. Phytophthora infestans: The Mexican connection. In: Lucas, JA, Shattock, RC, Shaw, DS & Cooke, LR (eds.) Phytophthora. Cambridge, UK Cambridge University Press.
- Olanya, O.M., Lambert, D.H. & Plant, A.B. 2005. Occurrence and cross-infection of *Phytophthora infestans* on hairy nightshade (*Solanum sarrachoides*) and potato (*Solanum tuberosum*) in Maine. *Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology*, 27, 458-460.
- Osvald, H. 1965. Potatisen: Odlingshistoria och användning, Stockholm, Natur och Kultur.
- Pittis, J.E. & Shattock, R.C. 1994. Viability, germination and infection potential of oospores of *Phytophthora infestans. Plant Pathology*, 43, 387-396.
- Platt, H.W. 1999. Response of solanaceous cultivated plants and weed species to inoculation with A1 or A2 mating time strains of *Phytophthora infestans*. *Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology-Revue Canadienne De Phytopathologie*, 21, 301-307.
- Poppel, P.M.J.a.V., Guo, J., Vondervoort, P.J.I.V.D., Jung, M.W.M., Birch, P.R.J., Whisson, S.C. & Covers, F. 2008. The *Phytophthora infestans* avirulence gene Avr4 encodes an RXLRdEER effector. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions*, 21, 1460-1470.
- Pule, B., Meitz, J., Thompson, A., Fry, W.E., Meyer, K., Wakahui, M., Senkesha, N. & Mcleod, A. Characterization of *Phytophthora infestans* populations from selected central, eastern, and southern Africa. Third internationl late blight conference 2008 Beijing, China. International potato center, Lima, Peru.
- Robertson, N.F. 1991. The challenge of *Phytophthora infestans*. *In:* Ingram, DS & Williams, PH (eds.) *Phytophthora infestans, the cause of late blight of potato*. London NW1: Academic Press Limited.
- Rölin, Å., Nilsson, I. & Van Schie, A. 2012. Odla potatis en handbok, Svärd och Söner Tryckeri AB, Falköping.



- Shaat, M.M.N. 2002. Detection of mating types of potato late blight pathogen, *Phytophthora infestans* (Mont.) de Bary, in El-Minia Governorate, Egypt. *Assiut Journal of Agricultural Sciences*, 33, 161-175.
- Shattock, R.C. 1976. Winter survival of field isolates of *Phytophthora infestans* in seed tubers and development of primarily infected plants. *Annals of Applied Biology*, 84, 273-274.
- Shaw, D.S. 1991. Genetics. In: Ingram, DS & Williams, PH (eds.) Advances in Plant Pathology. Phytophthora infestans, the cause of late blight of potato. UK, Cambridge: Academic Press Inc.
- Smoot, J.J., Gough, F.J., Lamey, H.A., Eichenmuller, J.J. & Gallegly, M.E. 1958. Production and germination of oospores of *Phytophthora infestans*. *Phytopathology*, 48, 165-171.
- Song, J.Q., Bradeen, J.M., Naess, S.K., Raasch, J.A., Wielgus, S.M., Haberlach, G.T., Liu, J., Kuang, H.H., Austin-Phillips, S., Buell, C.R., Helgeson, J.P. & Jiang, J.M. 2003. Gene RB cloned from Solanum bulbocastanum confers broad spectrum resistance to potato late blight. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 100, 9128-9133.
- Spielman, L., Drenth, A., Davidse, L., Sujkowski, W., Tooley, P. & Fry, W.E. 1991. A second world-wide migration and population displacement of *Phytophthora infestans? Plant Pathology*, 40, 422-430.
- Stukenbrock, E.H. & Mcdonald, B.A. 2008. The origins of plant pathogens in agro-ecosystems. Annual Review of Phytopathology, 46, 75-100.
- Turner, R.S. 2005. After the famine: Plant pathology, *Phytophthora infestans*, and the late blight of potatoes, 1845-1960. *Historical Studies in the Physical and Biological Sciences*, 35, 341-370.
- Tyler, B.M. 2008. Effectors. Oomycete Genetics and Genomics. John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Umaerus, V., Umaerus, M., Erjefält, L. & Nilsson, B.A. 1983. Control of *Phytophthora* by host resistance: problems and progress. *In:* Erwin, DS, Barnicki-Garcia, S & Tsao, PH (eds.) *Phytophthora: Its biology, taxonomy, ecology and pathology.* St Paul Minnesota: APS.
- Van Der Lee, T., Dewitte, I., Drenth, A., Alfonso, C. & Govers, F. 1997. AFLP linkage map of the oomycete *Phytophthora infestans*. *Fungal Genetics and Biology*, 21, 278-291.
- Van Der Plank, J.E. 1968. Disease resistance in plants, Academic Press.
- Van Der Vossen, E., Sikkema, A., Hekkert, B.T.L., Gros, J., Stevens, P., Muskens, M., Wouters, D., Pereira, A., Stiekema, W. & Allefs, S. 2003. An ancient R gene from the wild potato species *Solanum bulbocastanum* confers broad-spectrum resistance to *Phytophthora infestans* in cultivated potato and tomato. *Plant Journal*, 36, 867-882.
- Van Der Zaag, D.E. 1956. Overwintering and epidemiology of *P. infestans* and new possibilities of control. *Tijdschr Plantenziekten*, 62, 89-156.
- Vanderplank, J. 1963. Plant Diseases: Epidemics and Control, New York, USA, Academic Press.
- Wastie, R.L. 1991. Breeding for resistance. In: Ingram, DS & Williams, PH (eds.) Phytophthora infestans, the cause of late blight of potato Advances in plant pathology.
- Whisson, S.C., Boevink, P.C., Moleleki, L., Avrova, A.O., Morales, J.G., Gilroy, E.M.,
 Armstrong, M.R., Grouffaud, S., Van West, P., Chapman, S., Hein, I., Toth, I.K., Pritchard, L.
 & Birch, P.R.J. 2007. A translocation signal for delivery of oomycete effector proteins into host plant cells. *Nature*, 450, 115-+.

- Widmark, A.-K., Andersson, B., Cassel-Lundhagen, A., Sandström, M. & Yuen, J.E. 2007. *Phytophthora infestans* in a single field in southwest Sweden early in spring: symptoms, spatial distribution and genotypic variation. *Plant Pathology*, 56, 573-579.
- Widmark, A.-K., Andersson, B., Sandström, M. & Yuen, J.E. 2011. Tracking *Phytophthora infestans* with SSR markers within and between seasons a field study in Sweden. *Plant Pathology*, 60, 938-945.
- Vleeshouwers, V., Raffaele, S., Vossen, J.H., Champouret, N., Oliva, R., Segretin, M.E., Rietman, H., Cano, L.M., Lokossou, A., Kessel, G., Pel, M.A. & Kamoun, S. 2011. Understanding and Exploiting Late Blight Resistance in the Age of Effectors. *In:* Vanalfen, NK, Bruening, G & Leach, JE (eds.) *Annual Review of Phytopathology, Vol 49.* Palo Alto: Annual Reviews.
- Vleeshouwers, V.G.a.A., Rietman, H., Krenek, P., Champouret, N., Young, C., Oh, S., Wang, M., Bouwmeester, K., Vosman, B., Visser, R.G.F., Jacobsen, E., Govers, F., Kamoun, S. & Vossen, E.a.G.V.D. 2008. Effector genomics accelerates discovery and functional profiling of potato disease resistance and *Phytophthora infestans* avirulence genes. *PLos One*, e2875.
- Yuen, J.E. 2012. Modelling pathogen competition and displacement- *Phytophthora infestans* in Scandinavia. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, 133, 25-32.
- Zadoks, J.C. 2008. The Potato Murrain on the European Continent and the Revolutions of 1848. *Potato Research*, 51, 5-45.
- Zwankhuizen, M.J., Govers, F. & Zadoks, J.C. 1998. Development of potato late blight epidemics: Disease foci, disease gradients, and infection sources. *Phytopathology*, 88, 754-763.
- Zwankhuizen, M.J., Govers, F. & Zadoks, J.C. 2000. Inoculum sources and genotypic diversity of *Phytophthora infestans* in Southern Flevoland, the Netherlands. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, 106, 667-680.

Acknowledgements

There are so many that you want to thank when you finally reach the end of this long process.

First I would like to thank Jonathan Yuen for giving me the opportunity to work with this project. I enjoyed it from the beginning to the end and I'm still not tired of late blight or potatoes. I like your relaxed way of supervising with your office door always open and also giving me the freedom to develop my own projects. Björn Andersson, thank you for all your invaluable help, with everything from field stuff, analysing data and writing. I really enjoyed all our field trips together and I now know exactly what cars not to buy. Nils Högberg, thank you for always being very enthusiastic about my results and being the optimist in the group. This work would not have been possible without the help from Anna-Karin Widmark. You are a lady of a kind. Thank you for all the invaluable help in the lab, ideas, all your comments on manuscripts and late blight discussions.

All collaborators and colleagues working with late blight in the Nordic countries, thank you for collecting and sending me all the samples for my first study. And thank you for always being willing to discuss new results and ideas.

All the PhD-students at the department, former and new ones, you are all great! I won't mention any by name but you know who you are. Thanks for all the dog walks, horse talking, great dinners and parties. It is however impossible to not give a special thanks to Anna Berlin. There is no one that can give a "pepp-talk" like you, thank you! Many thanks to Karin Backström and Erika Häggström for always helping out with all sort of strange questions. The mykopat family, you are all great! I have really liked working in this friendly atmosphere that we have at the department. Emil Andersson, thank you for all

your help with the aggressiveness tests and Oskar Björling for giving me such nice results.

Last but certainly not least, family and friends. Some of you have more clues than others what I have actually worked with during these years but that does not mean that you have been less supportive. Thank you all! Niclas, I know that you do not really understand how one can work on a manuscript for almost a year, but thank you for all the love and support and for always asking about the practical use of my studies. You are my everything!

Thank you all!

This work was funded by the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences (SLU) and the Swedish Farmers' Foundation for Agricultural Research (SLF), and both are greatly acknowledged.